SOCJETY 2-HEALTH

Coordinating Lead Authors: Shlomit Paz (Israel)

Lead Authors: Cristina Linares (Spain), Julio Díaz (Spain), Maya Negev (Israel), Gerardo Sánchez Martínez (Denmark)

Contributing Authors: Roberto Debono (Malta)

This chapter should be cited as: Linares C, Paz S, Díaz J, Negev M, Sánchez Martínez G 2020 Health. In: Climate and Environmental Change in the Mediterranean Basin - Current Situation and Risks for the Future. First Mediterranean Assessment Report [Cramer W, Guiot J, Marini K (eds.)] Union for the Mediterranean, Plan Bleu, UNEP/MAP, Marseille, France, pp. 493-514, doi:10.5281/zenodo.7101115.



Table of contents

| Healt | h | |
|---------|---|-----|
| | itive summary | |
| 5.2.1 | Introduction | 49 |
| 0.2.1 | 5.2.1.1 Effects of climate and environmental change on human health | 49 |
| | 5.2.1.2 Multi-factorial changes in health attributed to environmental change | |
| FDD | | 4.0 |
| 5.Z.Z | Vulnerability and health risk – main causes | |
| | 5.2.2.1 Aging 5.2.2.2 Gender | |
| | 5.2.2.3 Geographic location | |
| | 5.2.2.4 Socio-economic status | |
| | 5.2.2.5 Level of acclimation | |
| | 5.2.2.6 Occupational health | |
| | 5.2.2.7 National public health infrastructures, warning systems | |
| | 5.2.2.7 National public health nin astructures, warning systems 5.2.2.8 Influence of urban landscape | |
| 5.2.3 | Health impacts: recent and current situation | 498 |
| | 5.2.3.1 Heat-related impacts | |
| | 5.2.3.2 Cold-related impacts | |
| | 5.2.3.3 Vector-borne diseases | |
| | West Nile virus | |
| | Chikungunya | |
| | Rift Valley fever | |
| | Leishmaniasis | |
| | 5.2.3.4 Food- and water-borne diseases | |
| 5.2.4 | | |
| | 5.2.4.1 Air quality | |
| | 5.2.4.2 Mineral dust and forest fires | |
| | 5.2.4.3 Mental health | |
| | 5.2.4.4 Migration | |
| 5.2.5 | Projections for global warming of 1.5°C, 2°C and more | |
| | 5.2.5.1 Vulnerabilities and risks under different warming scenarios | |
| | 5.2.5.2 Heat-related impacts | |
| | 5.2.5.3 Cold-related impacts | |
| F 0 / | 5.2.5.4 Vector- food- and water-borne diseases 5.2.5.5 Air quality | |
| | | |
| 5.2.6 | Resilience, preparedness and adaptation | |
| | 5.2.6.1 Health preparedness and adaptation measures | |
| | 5.2.6.2 Regional coordination and collaboration | |
| | 95 | |
| ormatio | on about authors | |



Executive summary

Climate and environmental change cause a wide range of impacts on human health in Mediterranean countries. The vulnerability of people to the impacts of climate and environmental change is strongly influenced by population density, level of economic development, food availability, income level and distribution, local environmental conditions, pre-existing health status, and the quality and availability of public health care. Poorer countries, particularly in North Africa and the Levant, are at highest risk.

Heat waves have the potential to cause very high rates of premature deaths, especially in large cities and among older people. Heat-related morbidity and mortality have been reduced in the region over recent years thanks to Heat-Health Acton Plans (HHAPs). Despite the rise in mean temperature, cold waves are not expected to disappear with increased future climate variability.

Recent climate and landscape changes in the Mediterranean Basin may create suitable environments for mosquitoes, ticks, and other climate-sensitive vectors, and may exacerbate vector-borne diseases.

Every year, around one million fatalities are attributed to outdoor and indoor air pollution in the European and Eastern Mediterranean regions. There are synergistic effects between ozone levels, particulate matter concentrations and climate variables, especially during heat wave days, with high temporal and spatial variability. An increase in mortality of 1.66-2.1% is observed for each 1°C temperature increase.

Climate change and extreme events have a negative impact on mental health for people who experience loss of homes, destruction of settlements and damage to community infrastructure.

Future changes in the vulnerability of the Mediterranean Basin to vector-borne diseases transmission vary geographically, modifying significantly the extent and transmission patterns of these diseases. For example, by 2050, West Nile virus highrisk areas are expected to expand further, and transmission seasons will extend significantly. It is important for prevention plans to be implemented. Most adaptation measures offer "win-win solutions" from a public health perspective, including the reduction of air pollution or providing shade. Additionally, Mediterranean countries have the potential to enhance cross-border collaboration for adaptation to many health risks.

5.2.1 Introduction

5.2.1.1 Effects of climate and environmental change on human health

Climate change is a complex phenomenon that threatens all aspects of human society, including increasing risks to human life and health (WHO 2018). Most climate-related health impacts are mediated by complex ecological, environmental and social processes, while impacts vary in magnitude, scale and timing as a function of local environmental conditions and the vulnerability of the human population (Shuman 2010; Smith et al. 2014; Crowley 2016). Climate change impacts human health directly, through exposure to extreme heat and cold events, droughts or storms, or indirectly by changes in air quality, water availability, food availability and quality, and other stressors. The main health effects are related to extreme weather events (including floods and extreme temperatures), changes in the distribution of climate-sensitive diseases (such as vector-, water- and food-borne diseases), and changes in environmental and social conditions (EU Climate Policy).

5.2.1.2 Multi-factorial changes in health attributed to environmental change

The Mediterranean Basin has been undergoing a warming trend with longer and warmer summers, an increase in the frequency, duration and severity of heat waves, and a reduction in rainfall. With significant gradients in socio-economic levels among Mediterranean countries, particularly between the North and the South, together with population growth and migration (World Bank 2017) *(Section 5.3.2.3)*, increased water demand *(Section 3.1.2)*, decreased water availability *(Section 3.1.3.5)* (Bucak et al. 2017), ecosys-

³⁹ Parts of this chapter have been published by Linares et al. (2020).

tem degradation (*Section 4.3*) (e.g., Coll et al. 2010) and increased risk of forest fires (*Section 4.3.2.1*) (e.g., Turco et al. 2014), the vulnerability of the Mediterranean population to human health risks is increasing significantly.

5.2.2 Vulnerability and health risk – main causes

Population vulnerability to the impacts of environmental and climate change is strongly influenced by population density, level of economic development, food availability, income level and distribution, local environmental conditions, pre-existing health status, and the quality and availability of public health care (Woodward et al. 2000). Although socio-economic and demographic factors may vary geographically, there are some commonalities across populations in terms of risk factors (UNEP 2018). Characteristics that differentiate populations with particular health risks from environmental change include age, gender, geographic location, socio-economic status, acclimation, occupation, health infrastructure and the (often urban) housing situation (Smith et al. 2014).

5.2.2.1 Aging

Older populations are at particular risk of adverse climate change impacts due to decreased mobility and changes in physiology, as well as limited access to resources. These conditions may limit adaptive capacity among older and more vulnerable people (EASAC 2019). More specifically, with heat-related impacts, such as heat waves, elderly population groups are at particular risk due to dysfunctional thermoregulatory mechanisms, chronic dehydration and medications. People with pre-existing medical conditions, especially cardiovascular or pulmonary illnesses (Mayrhuber et al. 2018) and those with chronic diseases like diabetes are more vulnerable (Yardley et al. 2013), as are those who are obese and have cognitive impairment (Bouchama et al. 2007; Linares et al. 2016).

5.2.2.2 Gender

In addition to differences of a collective nature (such as body size, physical condition and state of acclimatization to heat), there are social factors such as differences in social isolation, that tend to be greater among men than women, and may prove a risk factor e.g., during heat waves (Canouï-Poitrine et al. 2006). There are factors of a physiological nature, such as women's tendency to sweat less than men (Gagnon et al. 2013), a natural thermoregulation mechanism that might explain the greater impact of heat on women. Also single-parent women (De'Donato et al. 2018) are cited as more vulnerable. Moreover, for pregnant women and babies in gestation, extreme heat is a risk factor for adverse birth outcomes, such as low birth weight and premature birth (Arroyo et al. 2016).

5.2.2.3 Geographic location

Most studies show that there is important variability in the effects of climate change on morbidity and mortality related to geographic location and the sensitivity of populations to extreme values such as extreme heat or cold, urbanization level, and distance to health system infrastructures (Allen and Sheridan 2018). For example, rural populations will be at a high risk of vector-borne diseases related to climate warming.

5.2.2.4 Socio-economic status

Population vulnerability to high temperatures will be affected not only by climate change but also by socio-economic factors (Semenza et al. 2008). In socially disadvantaged groups, the effects are particularly pronounced among the poor, socially isolated, substance abusers and homeless (Nicolay et al. 2016). Migrants, refugees and internally displaced people may have pre-existing and post-displacement vulnerabilities such as malnutrition, untreated chronic medical conditions from limited access to health care, and lack of shelters that provide adequate protection, predisposing them to decompensation caused by heat or other extreme events (McMichael et al. 2012).

5.2.2.5 Level of acclimation

Climate change will affect an increasingly aging population, a larger percentage of whom have chronic diseases, and are therefore more susceptible to the effects of increasingly extreme temperatures (changes in the population susceptibility framework). Population effects are quantified through the increased number of people over 65, which is the target population for heat impacts, as well as those in energy poverty or living in older building structures. On the other hand, there are factors that should result in a decrease in the impact of heat in the future. These include, for example, the existence of an active adaptation process within the population (both autonomously by individuals and families, and by the authorities and institutions), due to multiple factors from the so called "culture of heat" (Bobb et al. 2014), to the implementation of prevention plans (Schifano et al. 2012), improvements in health services (van

Loenhout et al. 2016), and improvements in socio-economic circumstances and infrastructure of homes, as well as an increase in the number of air conditioning units (Díaz et al. 2018b), among others.

5.2.2.6 Occupational health

Extreme heat and cold waves have been linked to an increased risk of occupational injuries. Studies report significant losses in work capacity and productivity linked to climate warming. Several mechanisms are thought to be behind the link between ambient temperatures and risk of injury in the workplace (Martínez-Solanas et al. 2018). Exposure to high temperatures can lead to physiological and psychological changes associated with heat strain, which in turn can decrease workers' performance and lead to impaired concentration, increased distractibility and fatigue (Zander et al. 2015). Sectors with a high percentage of outdoor workers, such as agriculture and construction or police and security, have the highest risk of seeing heat stroke or even heat stress develop (Martínez-Solanas et al. 2018). Additionally, despite the rise in mean temperatures, cold waves are not going to disappear. Therefore, factors related to working in cold environments, such as thermal discomfort, hypothermia, or reduced mobility while wearing protective clothing are associated with decreased dexterity and performance among workers and can also trigger occupational injuries (Mäkinen et al. 2009).

5.2.2.7 National public health infrastructures, warning systems

Better surveillance and improved warning systems are needed for vulnerable population groups. Increased urbanization increases the level of population exposure and can put pressure on water management and energy infrastructure, social care and health systems, so as to make them inefficient or unable to adopt necessary measures and prevention plans (Environmental Audit Committee 2018). Prevention plans and early warning systems began in the European region after the heat wave of 2003 and their efficiency is under evaluation. In France, the implementation of the prevention plan and alert system after the heat wave of 2003 is considered to have contributed to a reduction of around 4,400 fatalities during the heat wave of 2006, especially benefitting people over 75 years of age (Fouillet et al. 2008). In recent years, Heat-Health Action Plans (HHAPs) led to a decline in mortality during heat waves (Martinez et al. 2019).

Currently, early warning systems for heat and cold waves are active in Mediterranean countries, such as the Egyptian Meteorological Authority (EMA).

5.2.2.8 Influence of urban landscape

Urban Heat Islands (UHI) are considered to be one of the greatest twentieth century problems facing humanity, and they are the result of urbanization and industrialization (Rizwan et al. 2008). Temperature differences between cities and rural areas due to the UHI effect can reach up to 10°C in large cities. The effect of heat in urban areas increases with population density, extensive economic activities and city expansion (Burkart et al. 2016; Milojevic et al. 2016). Factors that amplify the UHI effect include household characteristics such as the age of buildings, residence in the highest floor of a building, the presence of a bedroom immediately beneath the roof (due to the concentration of heat that accumulates during the day), and lack of good thermal isolation (Vandentorren et al. 2006; López-Bueno et al. 2019).

5.2.3 Health impacts: recent and current situation

5.2.3.1 Heat-related impacts

Heat waves have very high mortality rates in Europe causing tens of thousands of premature deaths, especially during the 2003 heat wave. Mediterranean cities like Athens, Barcelona and Rome have all experienced strong impacts of extremely high temperatures (De'Donato et al. 2015). Despite the aging European population and continuously increasing temperatures, Mediterranean cities (and also other areas with commonly high temperatures) have recently shown a reduction in heat-related morbidity and mortality (Díaz et al. 2018a). This reduction is attributable to several factors, such as the existence of Heat-Health Action Plans (HHAPs) and the implementation of prevention plans (Morabito et al. 2012), improvements in health services, infrastructure and housing, changes in patterns of susceptibility of the population and increased awareness of the effects of severe heat (Ragettli et al. 2017), which in turn may be a result of improved communication and media coverage (De'Donato et al. 2015).

An important decrease in heat-related mortality has been observed among children and elderly people, although at a lower rate for the elderly (Schifano et al. 2012; Díaz et al. 2015). The reduction in heat-related mortality does not show consistent differences by age group (De'Donato et al. 2015) or gender (Allen and Sheridan 2018) and is spatially variable (Toloo et al. 2013; Linares et al. 2015b). Plans and alert systems have helped raise awareness among the population about the risk, but they have probably not been enough to provoke changes in population behavior so as to lead people to take measures to protect themselves (Wolf et al. 2010). Health promotion and behavior studies suggest that people who are most likely to adopt these measures are also those who have a high risk perception, but the opposite is true for the most vulnerable groups.

The cost of investing in protection measures against heat is one of the barriers that prevent vulnerable populations from taking action. The negative environmental impact of air conditioning must also be considered *(Chapter 3.3).* Educational programs are required to inform the population, especially the most vulnerable and their caregivers, about the risks of exposure to high temperatures. In the European part of the Mediterranean Basin, the increase in temperatures will affect both warmer and temperate countries, and it is therefore important that prevention plans are implemented in those countries that currently have no prevention plans in place, and that they are improved where they already exist. Ultimately, the effectiveness of prevention plans depends on the capacity (of the health sector, the local community, etc.) to adapt to the changes, the plan's ability to incorporate climate change into research frameworks on adaptation and implementation, and the knowledge generated in the field (Hess and Ebi 2016).

There is insufficient research on public awareness regarding climate change and health in the Mediterranean. People who perceive climate change as a risk to public health are more supportive of mitigation policies and show more willingness to take individual measures to mitigate climate change (Debono et al. 2012).

5.2.3.2 Cold-related impacts

Winter mortality is associated with low temperatures, extremely low temperatures or cold waves (The Eurowinter Group 1997). This phenomenon has attracted less attention than the analysis of heat waves, though its impact on mortality is higher and up to an order of magnitude greater than those related to heat (Vardoulakis et al. 2014). By the end of the 21st century, southern European regions are expected to experience a clear decline in cold-relat-



ECDC and EFSA, map produced on 16 Jan 2019. Data presented in this map are collected by the VectorNet project. Maps are validated by external experts prior to publication. Please note that the depicted data do not reflect the official views of the countries. Administrative boubaries © EuroGeographics, UNFAO, TurkStat.
* Countries/Regions are displayed at different scales to facilitate their visualisation.

Figure 5.1 | Distribution of the tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus,* in 2019 - a known vector of chikungunya and dengue viruses (from ECDC 2019).

ed mortality opposite to the increase in heat-related mortality (Gasparrini et al. 2017). These conclusions are based on the dual assumption that there will be no population acclimatization processes to such extreme temperatures and no changes in mortality rate. Other studies indicate populations may adapt to heat (Oudin Åström et al. 2018). Despite the rise in mean temperatures (*Section 2.2.4.2*), cold waves are not expected to disappear. Added to the fact that the impact of cold-related mortality is greater than that of heat-related mortality (Carmona et al. 2016), from a public health standpoint it is essential that the climate impact on mortality risk is analyzed by considering the impacts of both heat and cold waves together.

5.2.3.3 Vector-borne diseases

One of the main impacts of environmental and climate changes on human health is the influence of warmer climates and changing rainfall patterns on vector-borne disease (VBD) transmission which, together with anthropogenic changes in landscapes may create hospitable environments for mosquitoes, ticks, and other climate-sensitive vectors (Crowley 2016) (*Fig. 5.1*).

Long-term anthropogenic climate change interacts with natural variability, influencing the transmission of VBDs from shorter (seasonal, annual) to longer (decadal) time scales, with variable effects and complex interactions at different times and locations (Campbell-Lendrum et al. 2015). These impacts are complex and may involve nonlinear feedback inherent in the dynamics of many infections (Metcalf et al. 2017), including impacts of other environmental drivers such as biodiversity loss or changes in land use (Reisen et al. 2006; Marcantonio et al. 2015; Paz 2015) (*Chapter 2).* It is therefore expected that VBD outbreaks will be exacerbated in the region.

Most cities in the Mediterranean Basin are compact and densely populated. Air conditioning is used in regions with sufficient resources, but windows often remain open even during the hottest months. Many activities, particularly social gatherings, occur in outdoor locations such as shaded balconies, courtyards, and outdoor restaurants - all ideal places for contact with the vector. While warmer summers extend the potential season of the disease throughout the basin, poorer countries, particularly in North Africa and the Levant, are at highest risk (Negev et al. 2015).

Currently, the main vector-borne diseases in the Mediterranean basin, transmitted by insects and

potentially influenced by the changing climate are West Nile virus, Chikungunya and Leishmaniasis.

West Nile virus

West Nile virus (WNV) is a vector-borne pathogen of global importance since it is the most widely distributed virus of the encephalitic *Flavivirus* spp. Mosquito species from the genus *Culex* (family *Culicidae*) are the primary amplification vectors and also act as bridge vectors. The enzootic cycle is driven by continuous virus transmission to susceptible bird species through adult mosquito blood meal feeding, which results in virus amplification (Paz and Semenza 2013; Petersen et al. 2013).

The establishment of WNV in new regions is facilitated by warmer conditions. Ambient warming increases the growth rates of mosquito populations, decreases the interval between blood meals and shortens the incubation time in mosquitoes (Paz 2015; Moirano et al. 2018). Clear associations have been found between warm conditions and WNV outbreaks in Mediterranean countries (Paz et al. 2013; Tran et al. 2014; Marcantonio et al. 2015; Moirano et al. 2018).

Since the unprecedented WNV outbreak in 2010 in southern and eastern Europe, which was accelerated by extreme temperatures (Paz et al. 2013), outbreaks occur every summer (2011-2019) and there is evidence of ongoing transmission in Euro-Mediterranean countries (Semenza and Suk 2018). During the last decade, WNV outbreaks in humans erupted in many Mediterranean countries including France, Italy, Croatia, Slovenia, Greece, Turkey, Israel and the Mediterranean islands. During the 2018 transmission season, a higher number of cases was reported compared with previous years (ECDC 2018).

The impact of changes in rainfall patterns on disease incidence is influenced by precipitation levels (increased and extreme precipitation, e.g., Moirano et al. 2018, floods or droughts), depending on local conditions, the landscape (e.g. wetlands, Tran et al. 2014) and the differences in the ecology and sensitivity of mosquito species (Paz 2015). In the Mediterranean area, increased rainfall and humidity together with high temperatures probably favored the multiplication of *Culex* species, which led to numerous cases of WNV human infections in northern Greece in summer 2010 (Papa et al. 2010). Climate parameters were found as key predictors of WNV outbreaks including high precipitation in late winter/

early spring and summer drought (Marcantonio et al. 2015).

Chikungunya

Chikungunya is a viral disease transmitted by Aedes mosquitoes to humans. The most common symptoms are fever and severe joint pain. In 2007, an outbreak of chikungunya virus infections took place for the first time in Italy, indicating the possibility of mosquito-borne outbreaks by Aedes albopictus in the Euro-Mediterranean area. In 2010 and 2014, autochthonous cases were reported in France. The risk of chikungunya spreading in the EU and the Mediterranean is high due to importation through infected travelers, presence of competent vectors in many countries (particularly around the Mediterranean coast) and population susceptibility (ECDC). In August-September 2017, local transmission of chikungunya was confirmed in southeastern France (WHO 2017a) and in Italy, six transmissions were reported in Rome and eight in the coastal area of Anzio in the Lazio Region (WHO 2017b).

Rift Valley fever

Rift Valley fever is a mosquito-borne zoonotic climate-sensitive disease closely associated with high-rainfall conditions (e.g., after prolonged excessive rainfall in sub-Saharan Africa). However, large outbreaks have also occurred in the dry and low-rainfall climate of Egypt (Linthicum et al. 2016).

Leishmaniasis

Leishmaniasis is a vector-borne disease with three main clinical forms: Visceral (Kala-azar), Cutaneous Leishmaniasis (CL), and Visceral Leishmaniasis (VL) caused by infection of Leishmania parasites and transmitted by the bite of infected females of Phlebotomine spp. sandflies. Leishmania genus includes about 20 species, widely distributed in more than 85 endemic countries, with 0.7-1.2 million new cases of CL every year, of which about a third occur in the Mediterranean region (Alvar et al. 2012). In the eastern Mediterranean Basin, two CL species, which manifest as skin sores, are common: Leishmania major and Leishmania tropica. Leishmania tropica, transmitted by the Phlebotomus sergenti sandfly, was first discovered in Israel in the early 1990s. Since the late 1990s, rapid unexpected outbreaks occurred in new urban and rural foci in Israel, Jordan and the Palestinian Authority (Al-Jawabreh et al. 2017; Waitz et al. 2018).

5.2.3.4 Food- and water-borne diseases

Climate change increases the risks of food- and water-borne diseases (Ebi et al. 2018). For example, the survival and multiplication of salmonellosis in the environment and in food is influenced by high temperatures (Miraglia et al. 2009; Milazzo et al. 2016). It was shown for ten European countries that temperature influences infection transmission in about 35% of all cases of salmonellosis, while the greatest effect was apparent for temperature one week before the onset of illness (Kovats et al. 2004).

Campylobacter species have emerged as leading bacterial causes of gastroenteritis and foodborne infections in high-income countries (EFSA and ECDC 2015). The incidence of campylobacteriosis varies seasonally and geographically, and tends to be highest during the summer months (Bassal et al. 2016). While the temperature may directly affect the rate of replication of pathogens and their survival in the environment, increased ambient temperatures may increase bacterial contamination at various points along the food chain and also influence people's behavior which, in turn, may be translated into more risky patterns of food consumption (Lake et al. 2009). A recent retrospective study in Israel found that higher temperatures across seasons, prior to or around the time of food purchasing, played a role in human infection (Rosenberg et al. 2018).

Leptospirosis, caused by Leptospira interrogans, is a highly infectious emerging water-borne zoonosis of global significance. A study in Croatia showed strong influence of climate conditions on incidence of human leptospirosis at annual level. In the years 2010 and 2014 that were characterized as warm/extremely warm and wet/ extremely wet, a significant temporal increase in incidence was observed. Increased risk for human infections is related to season, gender and age with peaks in incidence occurring cyclically and associated with extreme weather conditions. The influence of weather should not be considered without taking into account the wider impact of climate change on domestic, peridomestic and wild animals (Habus et al. 2017). In Israel, human leptospirosis is uncommon, but in summer 2018, a large outbreak of human leptospirosis was linked to contaminated water bodies in northern Israel after years of severe drought conditions which had resulted in particularly low water levels in the region (Dadon et al. 2018).

5.2.4 Indirect impacts: recent and current situation

5.2.4.1 Air quality

Climate and environmental change, anthropogenic activities, urbanization, industrialization, etc. affect air quality and impact human health, through several pathways, such as changes in atmospheric circulation, ventilation and dilution of air pollutants, removal processes, stratosphere-troposphere O3 (ozone) exchange (e.g., Akritidis et al. 2016) and increase in the frequency of wildfires (Fiore et al. 2015) (see Section 2.3.2). Every year, around one million fatalities are attributed to outdoor and indoor air pollution in the European and eastern Mediterranean regions (WHO Regional Office for Europe and OECD 2015). In Lebanon, the prevalence of cardiovascular disease has been linked to exposure to pollution (Salameh et al. 2019). In Europe the cardiovascular diseases burden from ambient air pollution is substantially higher than previously assumed, though subject to some uncertainty (Lelieveld et al. 2019).

In Europe, 90% of citizens are exposed to levels of fine particulate matter (PM) that exceed World Health Organization (WHO) air quality guidelines. There are synergistic effects between ozone levels, PM concentrations and climate variables (Analitis et al. 2018), especially on heat wave days (Katsouyanni et al. 2009), together with a large variability on both temporal and geographical scales, likely connected to local climate characteristics, activity patterns and physical adaptation (de Sario et al. 2013). An increase in mortality of 1.66% was observed for each 1°C temperature increase on low ozone level days, and an increase of up to 2.1% on high ozone level days (Analitis et al. 2018). There is a positive relationship between cardiovascular mortality and the concentrations of nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), the main precursor of tropospheric ozone (Nuvolone et al. 2013). Out of 524,000 pollution-related premature deaths. 432,000 are estimated to be attributable to PM2.5, 17,000 to O₃ and 75,000 to NO₂. Reducing exposure to PM improves the life expectancy of Europeans by about 8 months (WHO Regional Office for Europe and OECD 2015). As the main emission source of these pollutants is vehicle traffic, largest impacts are concentrated in large cities due to microcirculation.

Atmospheric pollutants that are linked to climate change are considered major contributors to the large rise in the number of people affected during the allergy season. Airborne allergens chemically modified by the presence of NO₂ and O₃, seem to increase their potency. Airborne allergies are thus becoming more common in combination with global climate change. Together with global warming, increased pollen production and earlier spring phenology, this leads to earlier, more frequent and more widespread pollen allergies (American Chemical Society 2015).

5.2.4.2 Mineral dust and forest fires

The main health impacts associated with PM occur in densely populated urban areas where the principal component is from anthropogenic emissions (Karanasiou et al. 2012). In southern European urban areas, these account for approx. 80% of PM and aerosol emissions, while the remaining 20% are of natural origin, mainly from advections of desert dust (Viana et al. 2014), sea spray (O'Dowd and de Leeuw 2007), volcanic emissions (von Glasow et al. 2009), and aerosols from wildfires, with Saharan dust intrusions and PM advection from wildfires being the primary sources.

Impacts of PM due to wildfires on human health are mainly respiratory problems (Mirabelli et al. 2009) or exacerbations of previous respiratory diseases (Martin et al. 2013), while exposure to forest fire smoke has also been linked to cardiac diseases (Weichenthal et al. 2017). Medium-size fires are found to increase daily mortality in Athens (Analitis et al. 2012), while the accumulative impact of PM10 (PM with diameter less than 10 µm) during forest fires smoke advection exacerbates mortality for different age groups and causes (Faustini et al. 2015; Linares et al. 2015a).

Long-distance transport generates a change in the respective atmospheric concentration of the different sized particles and in the chemical composition of the particles present in the air (Pérez et al. 2012), while there is evidence that desert dust itself transports biological allergens or irritants (Garrison et al. 2006; Griffin 2007; Polymenakou et al. 2008). Non-biological compounds in dust may cause adverse health effects, or local conditions may modify the toxicological properties of the dust. The two circumstances of change, i.e., in PM concentration and chemical composition, are related to clearly differentiated morbidity-mortality patterns, which are observable on days with desert dust intrusions (Jiménez et al. 2010).

The human health effects of dust storms range from respiratory disorders (including asthma, tracheitis, pneumonia, allergic rhinitis and silicosis), to cardiovascular disorders (including stroke), conjunctivitis, skin irritations, valley fever, diseases associated with toxic algal blooms, and mortality and injuries related to transport accidents (Goudie 2014). Spatial and temporal variability of the PM effects on human health due to Sahara dust intrusions in Euro-Mediterranean countries stems from co-existing PM concentrations due to traffic sources and their higher toxicity (Samoli et al. 2011; Stafoggia et al. 2016), the varying impacts on the different age groups (Zauli-Sajani et al. 2011), the specific causes of health impacts and PM groups (Neophytou et al. 2013).

5.2.4.3 Mental health

Climate change and extreme events have a negative impact on mental health in several ways. Floods, droughts and sea level rise have long-lasting impacts on societies who have experienced loss of homes, destruction of settlements and damage to community infrastructure. These impacts on mental health include anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorders (Watts et al. 2015). However, there is insufficient research on the mental health impacts of climate change, both internationally (Watts et al. 2018) and also regionally in Mediterranean countries. The few studies that have been conducted in the Mediterranean found negative impacts of high temperature on mental health. For example, in Thessaloniki, Greece, high temperatures may be associated with increased male suicide rates. In the context of the recent economic crisis in Greece, a multilinear regression showed that high temperatures explain 51% of the variance in male suicides, while unemployment was insignificant (Fountoulakis et al. 2016). Another study in Northern Italy found a strong positive association between the number of daily emergency psychiatric visits and mean daily air temperature (Cervellin et al. 2014). More research is needed regarding the impact of different extreme climate events on diverse mental health outcomes.

There is some evidence that climate change may intensify violence in the Mediterranean, across all levels. Climate change-induced water shortage and food insecurity may intensify conflicts in the eastern Mediterranean (Brown and Crawford 2009), especially in counties that lack adaptive capacity (Feitelson and Tubi 2017). At the domestic level, a study in Madrid found an association between heat waves and increase in domestic violence, including an increase in police reports and helpline calls three days after the heat wave (Sanz-Barbero et al. 2018).

5.2.4.4 Migration

Displacement related to environmental change and climate disasters is not a new phenomenon in the Mediterranean (Chapter 5.3) (Charef and Doraï 2016). Migration potential has increased over recent decades due to the increasing impacts of climate change, frequent and more intense extreme events, especially in areas with high population density and areas at risk, with direct and indirect impacts on the well-being, livelihood and security of populations (Chapter 5.3). Displacement may lead to adverse health outcomes, especially for vulnerable population groups as well as those suffering from chronic diseases (Schütte et al. 2018). In lower-income countries hosting refugees in particular, it may undermine national health systems and diminish access to health care for domestic, as well as migrant, populations (Gostin and Roberts 2015). In Egypt, re-emerging diseases such as tuberculosis have been reported as an indirect effect of climate change linked to the crowdedness of slum areas due to irregular internal migration of farmers who have lost their land (Girardi et al. 2017).

5.2.5 Projections for global warming of 1.5°C, 2°C and more

5.2.5.1 Vulnerabilities and risks under different warming scenarios

The IPCC special report on 1.5°C global warming (IPCC 2018) shows that global warming of 2°C poses substantially greater risks to human health than 1.5°C, with actual risk levels varying regionally (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2018). The risks may be particularly high for heat-related morbidity and mortality, heat stress, ground-level O₃, and malnutrition. For vector-borne diseases, the risks are more variable because warmer temperatures may result in some regions becoming too hot and/or too dry for a vector (Ebi et al. 2018).

5.2.5.2 Heat-related impacts

Many projections around heat-related mortality are made without considering the socio-economic conditions of the population. In order to show the contribution of changes in socio-economic and climate conditions to mortality due to heat in the European population, a study was developed that combined socio-economic scenarios with greenhouse gas emissions (RCP) (Mayrhuber et al. 2018). The percentage of the European population at risk of thermic stress is expected to increase constantly over coming years, and could increase from the



Figure 5.2 | Attributable fraction of heat-related deaths during summer by country in European sub-region, A) RCP4.5 in 2050; B) RCP8.5 in 2050, C) RCP4.5 in 2085 and d) RCP8.5 in 2085 (from Kendrovski et al. 2017).

current 0.4% to 20.3%, 32.6% or even 48.4% in 2050 depending on the scenario combination – unless substantial political changes occur rapidly and steadily shift the current socio-economic development pathway towards sustainability (Rohat et al. 2019). However, the impact of heat on mortality will be influenced more by socio-economic factors that enhance vulnerability than by exposure to high temperatures. Effects of heat-related mortality in Europe will vary considerably, with the Mediterranean region being the most affected (Mayrhuber et al. 2018).

Heat wave changes under the RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios will mainly affect the countries of Mediterranean Europe and eastern Europe (Kendrovski et al. 2017). More specifically, for the middle of the 21st century, 2035-2064, annual attributable mortality will increase by a factor 1.8 and 2.6 for RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, respectively, compared to the period 1971-2000. Heat wave attributable mortality at the end of the century will increase by around 3 and 7 times under RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 (Kendrovski et al. 2017). *Fig. 5.2* presents the mean warm season attributable fraction (the fraction of deaths attributable to mean apparent temperature above the threshold) based on the SMHI RCA4/HadGEM2 ES r1 (MOHC) climate model.

By the end of the 21st century (2090–2099), southern European countries are expected to experience a temperature increase of 1.9°C (1.3-2.2°C) and 4.5°C (3.0-5.1°C) respectively for RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, compared to the mean of 2010–2019 in a GCM-ensemble assuming no population changes (Gasparrini et al. 2017) *(Section 2.2).* The greatest changes in heat-related excess mortality are projected for southern Europe, with a 10.5% increase (IC95%: 5.6-17.3). For mortality related to heat waves, although the largest temperature increases are expected in southern Europe (for the period 2031–2080, changes in the 95th percentile: Italy 1.7°C and 3.2°C and Spain 1.4°C and 3.0°C, under RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, respectively), the area will not experience the greatest excess mortality linked to heat waves, as a result of population adaptation and prevention plans (Guo et al. 2018).

5.2.5.3 Cold-related impacts

As global warming progresses, a decreasing trend in cold extremes is expected. However, highly variable future climates may retain cold wave hazards as a locally important threat. Cold-related mortality is also expected to increase with expected demographic changes in European cities (Smid et al. 2019), but the effect of cold waves on aging populations is not as pronounced as the heat, since its relationship with respiratory diseases affects younger age groups. At European level, cold-related mortality is projected to decrease by the 2080s as much as heat-related mortality is expected to increase for the same period (EEA 2017). Better social, economic and housing conditions in many European countries may encourage the estimated decreasing risk, despite the expected higher variability.

5.2.5.4 Vector- food- and water-borne diseases

The rise in temperature may lead to a geographic expansion of Euro-Mediterranean areas that are currently climatically suitable for WNV, and also to an extension of the transmission season, with the extent and pattern of changes varying depending on the location and degree of warming (Semenza et al. 2016). The transmission risk for WNV in Euro-Mediterranean areas varies spatially as well as temporally (Conte et al. 2015). Early summer months will provide suitable climatic conditions in Tunisia, Libya and Egypt, while in the European continent suitable conditions prevail only from July. From August to October, significantly increased transmission risk will characterize Italy, France, Spain, the Balkan countries, Morocco, northern Tunisia, and all along the Mediterranean coast of Africa and the Middle East. In November, with the exception of limited European coastal areas of the Mediterranean, the risk will be very low, while in North African and Middle Eastern coastal areas the same is valid from December. Projections for Europe indicate a continuous extension of regions with an increased risk of WNV infections, mainly on the fringes of the regions of transmission (Conte et al. 2015). Predictions for 2025 show an elevated risk in northeastern Greece, eastern Croatia and northwestern Turkey, while in 2050 high-risk areas expand further (Semenza et al. 2016; Semenza and Suk 2018).

Southernmost parts of Europe do not generally provide climatically suitable areas for Chikungunya transmission in the 21st century, except for restricted areas in France and North Italy at the end of the century (Fischer et al. 2013). A significant reduction of habitat suitability for Aedes albopictus is projected for the middle of the 21st century in southern Europe and the Mediterranean, related to significant increase of summer temperatures (Caminade et al. 2012; Proestos et al. 2015). Similar results are found for the end of the century (Tjaden et al. 2017) (Section 2.2.4.2).

Since populations are exposed to variability in weather patterns and increasingly warm temperatures, there is high confidence for increased risks of food- and water-borne diseases, such as diarrheal diseases and Salmonella spp. (Smith et al. 2014). With rising average temperatures and an increase in the frequency and length of heat waves, a rising number of cases of food-borne illness are expected in a business-as-usual scenario unless education, epidemiological surveillance and enforcement (related to food safety) are intensified. This will be compounded in the event of power outage due to peak energy demand (e.g., during heat waves) that may lead to malfunction of food preservation practices (refrigeration) (The Malta Resources Authority 2017).

5.2.5.5 Air quality

Climate change alters the dispersion of primary pollutants, particularly particulate matter, and intensifies the formation of secondary pollutants. According to global estimates, the number of days with ozone concentrations exceeding the thresholds for protection of human health are expected to increase. In polluted areas with high levels of nitrogen oxides (NOx), high surface temperature and humidity (Section 2.2.4.2) may generate an increase of surface O₃ concentrations, especially in southern Europe (Doherty et al. 2017). By the middle of the 21st century in southern Europe, climate change is expected to lead to an increased summer mean O₃ (O−3 ppb) and increased summer daily maximum O₃ (3–6 ppb) (Langner et al. 2012; Doherty et al. 2013, 2017; Colette et al. 2015). For RCP8.5, the Mediterranean Basin may experience an annual average difference in stratospheric origin ozone concentration at sea level of above 5 ppb by the end of the 21st century (Meul et al. 2018).

Regional projections indicate an increase of 10 to 14% in ozone-related morbidity and mortality from 2021 to 2050 in several countries, including France, Spain and Portugal. For 2050 a 8 to 11% increase in non-accidental mortality is expected, and for 2080 a 15 to 16% increase, compared to the year 2000 (O₃ and PM2.5 combined) in Europe (Orru et al. 2017). Changes in PMs under climate change still require further study, and important uncertainties remain with regard to the impact of temperature change on PM components, together with still uncertain precipitation patterns (Doherty et al. 2017). The relationships between climate change, air pollution and air pollution-related health impacts depend highly on the climate change scenario used, and on projections of future air pollution emissions, with relatively high uncertainty. Further studies focusing on effects on morbidity are needed (Orru et al. 2017).

5.2.6 Resilience, preparedness and adaptation

5.2.6.1 Health preparedness and adaptation measures

Health preparedness and adaptation to climate change includes adaptation of health systems to access morbidity due to extreme events, and adaptation of the built environment in order to reduce the burden of extreme climate. The quality of health systems and accessibility to healthcare is different across countries in the Mediterranean, largely along the North/South division. Health systems in the Mediterranean face climate change in the context of an increasingly elderly population, which is particularly vulnerable to heat waves, an increase in vector-borne diseases, and an increase in climate migration to Mediterranean countries. For health systems in the southern Mediterranean, another challenge is the declining resources for this sector (Sanderson et al. 2018). While investment in climate-related adaptation health systems appears to be cost-effective (Jeuken et al. 2016), health adaptation in the region is lacking, with only one out of 22 countries in the eastern Mediterranean having a Heat-Health Action Plan (UNEP 2018). Increasing preparedness of health systems in the Mediterranean Basin may be supported by the following measures:

- Implementation of heat early warning systems,
- Preparedness of emergency medicine professionals for treating morbidity related to extreme climate events, such as heat waves, cold spells and floods,
- Monitoring climate-related morbidity and mortality and designing interventions,
- Monitoring and surveillance of vector-borne diseases, including across borders with neighboring countries,

- Prevention of water-borne and food-borne diseases,
- Provision of access to healthcare, including mental health, to climate migrants,
- Training health professionals, including physicians, nurses and administrative staff regarding the health impacts of climate change, preparedness and adaptation in the health system,
- Increase public awareness of climate change-related health risks, and recommended prevention and mitigation of negative health outcomes, including behavior during heat waves, elimination of habitats for vectors, etc.,
- Expand urban green infrastructure including protecting inside areas and settlements.

5.2.6.2 Regional coordination and collaboration

The Mediterranean Basin, particularly its eastern and southern regions, is an area troubled by internal and cross-border conflicts, limited cross-border collaborations and limited links to the international frameworks for the whole Mediterranean There are EU-funded regional frameworks such as Climate ADAPT Mediterranean area, that covers the southern part of Portugal, Mediterranean areas of Spain and France, almost all of Italy and the whole extension of Slovenia, Croatia, Greece, Malta and Cyprus, Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina and Montenegro (https://climate-adapt.eea.europa.eu/). ClimaSouth covers Algeria, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Palestine and Tunisia (http://www.climasouth.eu/en). While both frameworks emphasize on increasing resilience, human health is not at the center of these programs. Other frameworks focus on infectious diseases, e.g., the Middle East Consortium on Infectious Disease Surveillance (MECIDS) that coordinates between Israel, Jordan and the Palestinian Authority (http://www.mecidsnetwork.org/). Climate change is expected to affect the Mediterranean, with heat and drought impacts on morbidity and migration, and vector-borne diseases spreading across borders. It is a challenge for countries that lack diplomatic relations to collaborate, but health agencies prove that it is possible (e.g., in the case of MECIDS), and regional collaboration at the Mediterranean level should be a priority for health agencies in the region.

References

Akritidis D, Pozzer A, Zanis P, Tyrlis E, Škerlak B et al. 2016 On the role of tropopause folds in summertime tropospheric ozone over the eastern Mediterranean and the Middle East. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.* 16, 14025–14039. doi: 10.5194/acp-16-14025-2016

Al-Jawabreh A, Dumaidi K, Ereqat S, Al-Jawabreh H, Nasereddin A et al. 2017 Molecular epidemiology of human cutaneous leishmaniasis in Jericho and its vicinity in Palestine from 1994 to 2015. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 50, 95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.06.007

Allen MJ, Sheridan SC 2018 Mortality risks during extreme temperature events (ETEs) using a distributed lag non-linear model. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 62, 57–67. doi: 10.1007/s00484-015-1117-4

- Alvar J, Vélez ID, Bern C, Herrero M, Desjeux P et al. 2012 Leishmaniasis worldwide and global estimates of its incidence. *PLoS One* 7, e35671. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035671
- American Chemical Society 2015 Air pollutants could boost potency of common airborne allergens. <u>https://www.acs.org/content/acs/en/</u> <u>pressroom/newsreleases/2015/march/air-pol-</u> <u>lutants-could-boost-potency-of-common-air-</u> <u>borne-allergens.html</u>
- Analitis A, De'Donato FK, Scortichini M, Lanki T, Basagaña X et al. 2018 Synergistic effects of ambient temperature and air pollution on health in Europe: results from the PHASE project. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15, 1856. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15091856
- Analitis A, Georgiadis I, Katsouyanni K 2012 Forest fires are associated with elevated mortality in a dense urban setting. *Occup. Environ. Med.* 69, 158–162. doi: <u>10.1136/oem.2010.064238</u>
- Arroyo V, Díaz J, Carmona R, Ortiz C, Linares C 2016 Impact of air pollution and temperature on adverse birth outcomes: Madrid, 2001–2009. *Environ. Pollut.* 218, 1154–1161. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2016.08.069
- Bassal R, Lerner L, Valinsky L, Agmon V, Peled N et al.
 2016 Trends in the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis in Israel (1999–2012). *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.*13, 448–455. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2015.2096
- Bobb JF, Peng RD, Bell ML, Dominici F 2014 Heat-related mortality and adaptation to heat in the United States. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 122, 811–816. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307392
- Bouchama A, Dehbi M, Mohamed G, Matthies F, Shoukri M et al. 2007 Prognostic Factors in Heat Wave–Related Deaths: a meta-analysis. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 167, 2170–2176. doi: <u>10.1001/</u> archinte.167.20.ira70009
- Brown O, Crawford A 2009 Rising Temperatures, Rising Tensions: Climate change and the risk of violent conflict in the Middle East. International Institute

for Sustainable Development (IISD).

- Bucak T, Trolle D, Andersen HE, Thodsen H, Erdoğan Ş et al. 2017 Future water availability in the largest freshwater Mediterranean lake is at great risk as evidenced from simulations with the SWAT model. *Sci. Total Environ.* 581–582, 413–425. doi: 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.12.149
- Burkart K, Meier F, Schneider A, Breitner S, Canário P et al. 2016 Modification of Heat-Related Mortality in an Elderly Urban Population by Vegetation (Urban Green) and Proximity to Water (Urban Blue): Evidence from Lisbon, Portugal. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 124, 927–934. doi: <u>10.1289/ehp.1409529</u>
- Caminade C, Medlock JM, Ducheyne E, McIntyre KM, Leach S et al. 2012 Suitability of European climate for the Asian tiger mosquito *Aedes albopictus*: recent trends and future scenarios. *J. R. Soc. Interface* 9, 2708–2717. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2012.0138
- Campbell-Lendrum D, Manga L, Bagayoko M, Sommerfeld J 2015 Climate change and vector-borne diseases: what are the implications for public health research and policy? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 370. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0552
- Canouï-Poitrine F, Cadot E, Spira A, Spira A 2006 Excess deaths during the August 2003 heat wave in Paris, France. *Rev. Epidemiol. Sante Publique* 54, 127–135. doi: 10.1016/S0398-7620(06)76706-2
- Carmona R, Díaz J, Mirón IJ, Ortíz C, León I et al. 2016 Geographical variation in relative risks associated with cold waves in Spain: The need for a cold wave prevention plan. *Environ. Int.* 88, 103–111. doi: 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2015.12.027
- Cervellin G, Comelli I, Lippi G, Comelli D, Rastelli G et al. 2014 The number of emergency department visits for psychiatric emergencies is strongly associated with mean temperature and humidity variations. Results of a nine year survey. *Emerg. Care J.* 10. doi: <u>10.4081/ECJ.2014.2271</u>
- Charef M, Doraï K 2016 Human migration and climate change in the Mediterranean region, in *The Mediterranean region under climate change. A scientific update*, eds. Thiébault S, Moatti J-P (Marseille, France: Institut de Recherche pour le Développement), 439–444.
- Colette A, Andersson C, Baklanov A, Bessagnet B, Brandt J et al. 2015 Is the ozone climate penalty robust in Europe? *Environ. Res. Lett.* 10, 084015. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/8/084015
- Coll M, Piroddi C, Steenbeek J, Kaschner K, Ben Rais Lasram F et al. 2010 The biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: estimates, patterns, and threats. *PLoS One* 5, e11842.

doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0011842</u>

Conte A, Candeloro L, Ippoliti C, Monaco F, de Massis F et al. 2015 Spatio-Temporal Identification of Areas Suitable for West Nile Disease in the Mediterranean Basin and Central Europe. *PLoS One* 10, e0146024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146024

- Crowley RA 2016 Climate change and health: a position paper of the American College of Physicians. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 164, 608–610. doi: <u>10.7326/M15-2766</u>
- Dadon Y, Haas EJ, Kaliner E, Anis E, Singer SR et al. 2018 Outbreak of human leptospirosis linked to contaminated water bodies in Northern Israel, June to August 2018. *Euro Surveill*. 23, 1800486. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2018.23.38.1800486
- De'Donato FK, Leone M, Scortichini M, de Sario M, Katsouyanni K et al. 2015 Changes in the effect of heat on mortality in the last 20 years in nine European cities. Results from the PHASE project. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 12, 15567–15583. doi: 10.3390/ijerph121215006
- De'Donato FK, Scortichini M, de Sario M, de Martino A, Michelozzi P 2018 Temporal variation in the effect of heat and the role of the Italian heat prevention plan. *Public Health* 161, 154–162. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2018.03.030
- de Sario M, Katsouyanni K, Michelozzi P 2013 Climate change, extreme weather events, air pollution and respiratory health in Europe. *Eur. Respir. J.* 42, 826–843. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00074712
- Debono R, Vincenti K, Calleja N 2012 Risk communication: climate change as a human-health threat, a survey of public perceptions in Malta. *Eur. J. Public Health* 22, 144–149. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckq181
- Díaz J, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Luna MY, Linares C 2018a Time trend in the impact of heat waves on daily mortality in Spain for a period of over thirty years (1983–2013). *Environ. Int.* 116, 10–17. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.001
- Díaz J, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Ortiz C, Linares C 2015 Comparison of the effects of extreme temperatures on daily mortality in Madrid (Spain), by age group: The need for a cold wave prevention plan. *Environ. Res.* 143, 186–191.

doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2015.10.018

- Díaz J, López IA, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Luna MYY et al. 2018b Short-term effect of heat waves on hospital admissions in Madrid: Analysis by gender and comparision with previous findings. *Environ. Pollut.* 243, 1648–1656. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.09.098
- Doherty RM, Heal MR, O'Connor FM 2017 Climate change impacts on human health over Europe through its effect on air quality. *Environ. Heal.* 16, 118. doi: 10.1186/s12940-017-0325-2

Doherty RM, Wild O, Shindell DT, Zeng G, MacKenzie IA et al. 2013 Impacts of climate change on surface ozone and intercontinental ozone pollution: A multi-model study. *JGR Atmos.* 118, 3744–3763. doi: 10.1002/jgrd.50266

- EASAC 2019 The imperative of climate action to protect human health in Europe.
- Ebi KL, Hasegawa T, Hayes K, Monaghan A, Paz S et al. 2018 Health risks of warming of 1.5 °C, 2 °C, and

higher, above pre-industrial temperatures. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13, 063007.

doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/aac4bd

- ECDC Factsheet about chikungunya. <u>https://ecdc.euro-</u> <u>pa.eu/en/chikungunya/facts/factsheet</u> [Accessed January 31, 2020].
- ECDC 2018 Epidemiological update: West Nile virus transmission season in Europe, 2018. *Eur. Cent. Dis. Prev. Control.* <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/</u> <u>news-events/epidemiological-update-west-nile-vi-</u> <u>rus-transmission-season-europe-2018</u> [Accessed June 10, 2019].
- ECDC 2019 Mosquito maps. *Eur. Cent. Dis. Prev. Control.* <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/disease-vectors/sur-</u> veillance-and-disease-data/mosquito-maps
- EEA 2017 Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2016. An indicator-based report. doi: 10.2800/534806
- EFSA and ECDC 2015 The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2014. *EFSA J.* 13, 4329.
- Environmental Audit Committee 2018 Heatwaves: adapting to climate change. Ninth Report of Session 2017–19. <u>https://publications.parliament.uk/</u> pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmenvaud/826/826.pdf
- EU Climate Policy Adaptation policy in the EU an overview. <u>https://climatepolicyinfohub.eu/adapta-</u> <u>tion-policy-eu--overview</u> [Accessed January 31, 2020].
- Faustini A, Alessandrini ER, Pey J, Perez N, Samoli E et al. 2015 Short-term effects of particulate matter on mortality during forest fires in Southern Europe: results of the MED-PARTICLES Project. *Occup. Environ. Med.* 72, 323–329. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2014-102459
- Feitelson E, Tubi A 2017 A main driver or an intermediate variable? Climate change, water and security in the Middle East. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 44, 39–48. doi: <u>10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2017.03.001</u>
- Fiore AM, Naik V, Leibensperger EM 2015 Air quality and climate connections. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 65, 645–685. doi: <u>10.1080/10962247.2015.1040526</u>
- Fischer D, Thomas SM, Suk JE, Sudre B, Hess A et al. 2013 Climate change effects on Chikungunya transmission in Europe: geospatial analysis of vector's climatic suitability and virus' temperature requirements. *Int. J. Health Geogr.* 12, 51. doi: 10.1186/1476-072X-12-51
- Fouillet A, Rey G, Wagner V, Laaidi K, Empereur-Bissonnet P et al. 2008 Has the impact of heat waves on mortality changed in France since the European heat wave of summer 2003? A study of the 2006 heat wave. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 37, 309–317. doi: 10.1093/ije/dym253
- Fountoulakis KN, Savopoulos C, Zannis P, Apostolopoulou M, Fountoukidis I et al. 2016 Climate change

but not unemployment explains the changing suicidality in Thessaloniki Greece (2000-2012). *J. Affect. Disord.* 193, 331–338. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.01.008

Gagnon D, Crandall CG, Kenny GP 2013 Sex differences in postsynaptic sweating and cutaneous vasodilation. J. Appl. Physiol. 114, 394–401. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00877.2012

Garrison VH, Foreman WT, Genualdi S, Griffin DW, Kellogg CA et al. 2006 Saharan dust - A carrier of persistent organic pollutants, metals and microbes to the Caribbean? *Rev. Biol. Trop. Int. J. Trop. Biol. Conserv.* 54, 9–21. doi: 10.15517/RBT.V54I3.26867

Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Huber V et al. 2017 Projections of temperature-related excess mortality under climate change scenarios. *Lancet Planet. Heal.* 1, e360–e367. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30156-0

Girardi E, Sañé Schepisi M, Goletti D, Bates M, Mwaba P et al. 2017 The global dynamics of diabetes and tuberculosis: the impact of migration and policy implications. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 56, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2017.01.018

Gostin LO, Roberts AE 2015 Forced migration the human face of a health crisis. JAMA - J. Am. Med. Assoc. 314, 2125–2126. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.14906

Goudie AS 2014 Desert dust and human health disorders. *Environ. Int.* 63, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2013.10.011

Griffin DW 2007 Atmospheric movement of microorganisms in clouds of desert dust and implications for human health. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 20, 459–477. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00039-06

Guo Y, Gasparrini A, Li S, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM et al. 2018 Quantifying excess deaths related to heatwaves under climate change scenarios: A multicountry time series modelling study. *PLoS Med.* 15, e1002629. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pmed.1002629</u>

Habus J, Persic Z, Spicic S, Vince S, Stritof Z et al. 2017 New trends in human and animal leptospirosis in Croatia, 2009–2014. *Acta Trop.* 168, 1–8. doi: <u>10.1016/j.actatropica.2017.01.002</u>

Hess JJ, Ebi KL 2016 Iterative management of heat early warning systems in a changing climate. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1382, 21–30. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13258

Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jacob D, Taylor M, Bindi M, Brown S et al. 2018 Impacts of 1.5°C of global warming on natural and human systems, in *Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, eds. Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner H-O, Roberts D, Skea J et al. (Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: In press), 175–311.*

IPCC 2018 Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change,., eds. Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO, Roberts D, Skea J et al. In press.

Jeuken A, Bouwer LM, Burzel A, Bosello F, Decian E et al. 2016 Bottom-up climate adaptation strategies towards a sustainable Europe. EU-wide economic evaluation of adaptation to climate change. <u>https://</u> base-adaptation.eu/sites/default/files/D.6.3.pdf

Jiménez E, Linares C, Martínez D, Díaz J 2010 Role of Saharan dust in the relationship between particulate matter and short-term daily mortality among the elderly in Madrid (Spain). *Sci. Total Environ.* 408, 5729–5736. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.08.049

Karanasiou A, Moreno N, Moreno T, Viana M-M, de Leeuw F et al. 2012 Health effects from Sahara dust episodes in Europe: Literature review and research gaps. *Environ. Int.* 47, 107–114. doi: 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2012.06.012

Katsouyanni K, Samet JM, Anderson HR, Atkinson RW, Le Tertre A et al. 2009 Air pollution and health: a European and North American approach (APHE-NA). *Res. Rep. Health. Eff. Inst.*, 5–90. <u>http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20073322</u> [Accessed April 26, 2019].

Kendrovski V, Baccini M, Martinez G, Wolf T, Paunovic E et al. 2017 Quantifying Projected Heat Mortality Impacts under 21st-Century Warming Conditions for Selected European Countries. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 14, 729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070729

Kovats RS, Edwards SJ, Hajat S, Armstrong BG, Ebi KL et al. 2004 The effect of temperature on food poisoning: a time-series analysis of salmonellosis in ten European countries. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 132, 443–453. doi: 10.1017/s0950268804001992

Lake IR, Gillespie IA, Bentham G, Nichols GL, Lane C et al. 2009 A re-evaluation of the impact of temperature and climate change on foodborne illness. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 137, 1538–1547. doi: 10.1017/S0950268809002477

Langner J, Engardt M, Baklanov A, Christensen JH, Gauss M et al. 2012 A multi-model study of impacts of climate change on surface ozone in Europe. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.* 12, 10423–10440. doi: 10.5194/acp-12-10423-2012

Lelieveld J, Klingmüller K, Pozzer A, Pöschl U, Fnais M et al. 2019 Cardiovascular disease burden from ambient air pollution in Europe reassessed using novel hazard ratio functions. *Eur. Heart J.* 40, 1590– 1596. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz135

Linares C, Carmona R, Tobías A, Mirón IJ, Díaz J 2015a Influence of advections of particulate matter from biomass combustion on specific-cause mortality in Madrid in the period 2004–2009. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 22, 7012–7019.

doi: 10.1007/s11356-014-3916-2

Linares C, Díaz J, Negev M, Martínez GS, Debono R et al. 2020 Impacts of climate change on the public health of the Mediterranean Basin population -Current situation, projections, preparedness and adaptation. *Environ. Res.* 182, 109107. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.109107

Linares C, Martinez-Martin P, Rodríguez-Blázquez C, Forjaz MJ, Carmona R et al. 2016 Effect of heat waves on morbidity and mortality due to Parkinson's disease in Madrid: A time-series analysis. *Environ. Int.* 89–90, 1–6.

doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.01.017

- Linares C, Sánchez R, Mirón IJ, Díaz J 2015b Has there been a decrease in mortality due to heat waves in Spain? Findings from a multicity case study. *J. Integr. Environ. Sci.* 12, 153–163. doi: 10.1080/1943815X.2015.1062032
- Linthicum KJ, Britch SC, Anyamba A 2016 Rift Valley Fever: An Emerging Mosquito-Borne Disease*. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 61, 395–415. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ento-010715-023819
- López-Bueno JA, Díaz J, Linares C 2019 Differences in the impact of heat waves according to urban and peri-urban factors in Madrid. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 63, 371–380. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01670-9
- Mäkinen TM, Juvonen R, Jokelainen J, Harju TH, Peitso A et al. 2009 Cold temperature and low humidity are associated with increased occurrence of respiratory tract infections. *Respir. Med.* 103, 456–62. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2008.09.011
- Marcantonio M, Rizzoli A, Metz M, Rosà R, Marini G et al. 2015 Identifying the Environmental Conditions Favouring West Nile Virus Outbreaks in Europe. *PLoS One* 10, e0121158.

doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0121158</u> Martin KL, Hanigan IC, Morgan GG, Henderson SB,

Johnston FH 2013 Air pollution from bushfires and their association with hospital admissions in Sydney, Newcastle and Wollongong, Australia 1994-2007. *Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health* 37, 238–243. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12065

Martínez-Solanas È, López-Ruiz M, Wellenius GA, Gasparrini A, Sunyer J et al. 2018 Evaluation of the impact of ambient temperatures on occupational Injuries in Spain. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 126, 067002. doi: 10.1289/EHP2590

 Martinez GS, Linares C, Ayuso A, Kendrovski V, Boeckmann M et al. 2019 Heat-health action plans in Europe: Challenges ahead and how to tackle them. *Environ. Res.* 176.

doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.108548

Mayrhuber EA-S, Dückers MLA, Wallner P, Arnberger A, Allex B et al. 2018 Vulnerability to heatwaves and implications for public health interventions – A scoping review. *Environ. Res.* 166, 42–54. doi: 10.1016/J.ENVRES.2018.05.021

- McMichael C, Barnett J, McMichael AJ 2012 An ill wind? Climate change, migration, and health. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 120, 646–654. doi: <u>10.1289/ehp.1104375</u>
- Metcalf CJE, Walter KS, Wesolowski A, Buckee CO, Shevliakova E et al. 2017 Identifying climate drivers of infectious disease dynamics: recent advances and challenges ahead. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 284, 20170901. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.0901
- Meul S, Langematz U, Kröger P, Oberländer-Hayn S, Jöckel P 2018 Future changes in the stratosphere-to-troposphere ozone mass flux and the contribution from climate change and ozone recovery. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 18, 7721–7738. doi: 10.5194/acp-18-7721-2018
- Milazzo A, Giles LC, Zhang Y, Koehler AP, Hiller JE et al. 2016 The effect of temperature on different *Salmonella* serotypes during warm seasons in a Mediterranean climate city, Adelaide, Australia. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 144, 1231–1240. doi: 10.1017/S0950268815002587
- Milojevic A, Armstrong BG, Gasparrini A, Bohnenstengel SI, Barratt B et al. 2016 Methods to estimate acclimatization to urban heat island effects on heat- and cold-related mortality. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 124, 1016–1022. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1510109
- Mirabelli MC, Künzli N, Avol E, Gilliland FD, Gauderman WJ et al. 2009 Respiratory symptoms following wildfire smoke exposure. *Epidemiology* 20, 451–459. doi: <u>10.1097/EDE.0b013e31819d128d</u>
- Miraglia M, Marvin HJP, Kleter GA, Battilani P, Brera C et al. 2009 Climate change and food safety: An emerging issue with special focus on Europe. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 47, 1009–1021. doi: <u>10.1016/j.fct.2009.02.005</u>

Moirano G, Gasparrini A, Acquaotta F, Fratianni S, Merletti F et al. 2018 West Nile Virus infection in Northern Italy: Case-crossover study on the shortterm effect of climatic parameters. *Environ. Res.* 167, 544–549. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.08.016

- Morabito M, Profili F, Crisci A, Francesconi P, Gensini GF et al. 2012 Heat-related mortality in the Florentine area (Italy) before and after the exceptional 2003 heat wave in Europe: an improved public health response? *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 56, 801–810. doi: 10.1007/s00484-011-0481-y
- Negev M, Paz S, Clermont A, Pri-Or NG, Shalom U et al. 2015 Impacts of climate change on vector borne diseases in the Mediterranean Basin — implications for preparedness and adaptation policy. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 12, 6745–6770. doi: 10.3390/ijerph120606745
- Neophytou AM, Yiallouros P, Coull BA, Kleanthous S, Pavlou P et al. 2013 Particulate matter concen-

trations during desert dust outbreaks and daily mortality in Nicosia, Cyprus. *J. Expo. Sci. Environ. Epidemiol.* 23, 275–280. doi: <u>10.1038/jes.2013.10</u>

Nicolay M, Brown LM, Johns R, Ialynytchev A 2016 A study of heat related illness preparedness in homeless veterans. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 18, 72–74. doi: 10.1016/J.IJDRR.2016.05.009

Nuvolone D, Balzi D, Pepe P, Chini M, Scala D et al. 2013 Ozone short-term exposure and acute coronary events: a multicities study in Tuscany (Italy). *Environ. Res.* 126, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2013.08.002

O'Dowd CD, de Leeuw G 2007 Marine aerosol production: a review of the current knowledge. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 365, 1753– 1774. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2007.2043

Orru H, Ebi KL, Forsberg B 2017 The interplay of climate change and air pollution on health. *Curr. Environ. Heal. Reports* 4, 504–513. doi: 10.1007/s40572-017-0168-6

Oudin Åström D, Åström C, Forsberg B, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Gasparrini A et al. 2018 Heat wave-related mortality in Sweden: A case-crossover study investigating effect modification by neighbourhood deprivation. *Scand. J. Public Health*, 140349481880161.

doi: <u>10.1177/1403494818801615</u>

Papa A, Danis K, Baka A, Bakas A, Dougas G et al. 2010 Ongoing outbreak of West Nile virus infections in humans in Greece, July – August 2010. *Eurosurveillance* 15, 19644. doi: <u>10.2807/ese.15.34.19644-en</u>

Paz S 2015 Climate change impacts on West Nile virus transmission in a global context. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 370, 20130561–20130561. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0561

Paz S, Malkinson D, Green MS, Tsioni G, Papa A et al. 2013 Permissive Summer Temperatures of the 2010 European West Nile Fever Upsurge. *PLoS One* 8, e56398. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0056398</u>

Paz S, Semenza JC 2013 Environmental drivers of West Nile fever epidemiology in Europe and Western Asia-a review. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 10, 3543–3562. doi: 10.3390/ijerph10083543

Pérez L, Tobías A, Querol X, Pey J, Alastuey A et al. 2012 Saharan dust, particulate matter and cause-specific mortality: a case-crossover study in Barcelona (Spain). *Environ. Int.* 48, 150–155. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2012.07.001

Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS 2013 West Nile virus: review of the literature. *JAMA* 310, 308–315. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.8042

Polymenakou PN, Mandalakis M, Stephanou EG, Tselepides A 2008 Particle Size Distribution of Airborne Microorganisms and Pathogens during an Intense African Dust Event in the Eastern Mediterranean. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 116, 292–296. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10684 Proestos Y, Christophides GK, Ergüler K, Tanarhte M, Waldock J et al. 2015 Present and future projections of habitat suitability of the Asian tiger mosquito, a vector of viral pathogens, from global climate simulation. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 370, 1–16. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0554

Ragettli MS, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Schindler C, Röösli M 2017 Exploring the association between heat and mortality in Switzerland between 1995 and 2013. *Environ. Res.* 158, 703–709. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.07.021

 Reisen WK, Fang Y, Martinez VM 2006 Effects of temperature on the transmission of west nile virus by *Culex tarsalis* (Diptera: Culicidae). *J. Med. Entomol.* 43, 309–317.

doi: 10.1603/0022-2585(2006)043[0309:E0T0TT]2.0.C0;2

Rizwan AM, Dennis LYC, Liu C 2008 A review on the generation, determination and mitigation of Urban Heat Island. *J. Environ. Sci.* 20, 120–128. doi: 10.1016/S1001-0742[08]60019-4

Rohat G, Flacke J, Dosio A, Pedde S, Dao H et al. 2019 Influence of changes in socioeconomic and climatic conditions on future heat-related health challenges in Europe. *Glob. Planet. Change* 172, 45–59. doi: 10.1016/j.gloplacha.2018.09.013

Rosenberg A, Weinberger M, Paz S, Valinsky L, Agmon V et al. 2018 Ambient temperature and age-related notified Campylobacter infection in Israel: A 12year time series study. *Environ. Res.* 164, 539–545. doi: <u>10.1016/j.envres.2018.03.017</u>

Salameh P, Zeidan RK, Hallit S, Farah R, Chahine M et al. 2019 Cardiovascular diseases and long-term self-reported exposure to pollution: results of a national epidemiological study in Lebanon. *J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil. Prev.* 39, 43–49. doi: 10.1097/HCR.00000000000378

Samoli E, Nastos PT, Paliatsos AG, Katsouyanni K, Priftis KN 2011 Acute effects of air pollution on pediatric asthma exacerbation: Evidence of association and effect modification. *Environ. Res.* 111, 418–424. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2011.01.014

Sanderson H, Hildén M, Russel D, Penha-Lopes G, Capriolo A 2018 Adapting to climate change in Europe: exploring sustainable pathways, from local measures to wider policies. Elsevier

Sanz-Barbero B, Linares C, Vives-Cases C, González JL, López-Ossorio JJ et al. 2018 Heat wave and the risk of intimate partner violence. *Sci. Total Environ.* 644, 413–419. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.368

Schifano P, Leone M, de Sario M, De'Donato FK, Bargagli AM et al. 2012 Changes in the effects of heat on mortality among the elderly from 1998–2010: results from a multicenter time series study in Italy. *Environ. Heal.* 11, 58. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-11-58

Schütte S, Gemenne F, Zaman M, Flahault A, Depoux A 2018 Connecting planetary health, climate change,

and migration. *Lancet Planet. Heal.* 2, e58–e59. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(18)30004-4

- Semenza JC, Suk JE 2018 Vector-borne diseases and climate change: a European perspective. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 365. doi: <u>10.1093/femsle/fnx244</u>
- Semenza JC, Tran A, Espinosa L, Sudre B, Domanovic D et al. 2016 Climate change projections of West Nile virus infections in Europe: implications for blood safety practices. *Environ. Heal.* 15, S28. doi: 10.1186/s12940-016-0105-4
- Semenza JC, Wilson DJ, Parra J, Bontempo BD, Hart M et al. 2008 Public perception and behavior change in relationship to hot weather and air pollution. *Environ. Res.* 107, 401–411. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2008.03.005
- Shuman EK 2010 Global climate change and infectious diseases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1061–1063. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp0912931
- Smid M, Russo S, Costa AC, Granell C, Pebesma E 2019 Ranking European capitals by exposure to heat waves and cold waves. *Urban Clim.* 27, 388–402. doi: 10.1016/j.uclim.2018.12.010
- Smith KR, Woodward A, Campbell-Lendrum D, Chadee DD, Honda Y et al. 2014 Human Health: Impacts, Adaptation, and Co-benefits, in *Climate Change* 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds. Field CB, Barros VR, Dokken DJ, Mach KJ, Mastrandrea MD et al., 709–754.
- Stafoggia M, Zauli-Sajani S, Pey J, Samoli E, Alessandrini ER et al. 2016 Desert dust outbreaks in Southern Europe: contribution to daily PM10 concentrations and short-term associations with mortality and hospital admissions. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 124, 413–419. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409164
- The Eurowinter Group 1997 Cold exposure and winter mortality from ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory disease, and all causes in warm and cold regions of Europe. *Lancet (London, England)* 349, 1341–1346. <u>http://www.ncbi.</u> <u>nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9149695</u> [Accessed April 26, 2019].
- The Malta Resources Authority 2017 Seventh national communication of Malta to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.
- Tjaden NB, Suk JE, Fischer D, Thomas SM, Beierkuhnlein C et al. 2017 Modelling the effects of global climate change on Chikungunya transmission in the 21 st century. *Sci. Rep.* 7. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03566-3
- $u_{01} = \frac{10.1036/541376-017-03366-3}{10.000}$
- Toloo G (Sam), FitzGerald G, Aitken P, Verrall K, Tong S 2013 Are heat warning systems effective? *Environ. Heal.* 12. doi: <u>10.1186/1476-069x-12-27</u>
- Tran A, Sudre B, Paz S, Rossi M, Desbrosse A et al. 2014 Environmental predictors of West Nile fever

risk in Europe. *Int. J. Health Geogr.* 13, 26. doi: <u>10.1186/1476-072X-13-26</u>

- Turco M, Llasat MC, von Hardenberg J, Provenzale A 2014 Climate change impacts on wildfires in a Mediterranean environment. *Clim. Change* 125, 369–380. doi: <u>10.1007/s10584-014-1183-3</u>
- UNEP 2018 The Adaptation Gap Report 2018.
- van Loenhout JAF, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Guha-Sapir D 2016 Stakeholders' Perception on National Heatwave Plans and Their Local Implementation in Belgium and The Netherlands. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 13. doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph13111120</u>
- Vandentorren S, Bretin P, Zeghnoun A, Mandereau-Bruno L, Croisier A et al. 2006 August 2003 heat wave in France: Rrsk factors for death of elderly people living at home. *Eur. J. Public Health* 16, 583–591. doi: <u>10.1093/eurpub/ckl063</u>
- Vardoulakis S, Dear K, Hajat S, Heaviside C, Eggen B et al. 2014 Comparative assessment of the effects of climate change on heat- and cold-related mortality in the United Kingdom and Australia. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 122, 1285–1292. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307524
- Viana M-M, Pey J, Querol X, Alastuey A, de Leeuw F et al. 2014 Natural sources of atmospheric aerosols influencing air quality across Europe. *Sci. Total Environ.* 472, 825–833.

doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.140

- von Glasow R, Bobrowski N, Kern C 2009 The effects of volcanic eruptions on atmospheric chemistry. *Chem. Geol.* 263, 131–142. doi: <u>10.1016/J.CHEMGE0.2008.08.020</u>
- Waitz Y, Paz S, Meir D, Malkinson D 2018 Temperature effects on the activity of vectors for Leishmania tropica along rocky habitat gradients in the Eastern Mediterranean. *J. Vector Ecol.* 43, 205–214. doi: 10.1111/jvec.12304
- Watts N, Adger WN, Agnolucci P, Blackstock J, Byass P et al. 2015 Health and climate change: policy responses to protect public health. *Lancet* 386, 1861–1914. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60854-6
- Watts N, Amann M, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Bouley T et al. 2018 The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: from 25 years of inaction to a global transformation for public health. *Lancet* 391, 581–630. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736[17]32464-9
- Weichenthal S, Kulka R, Lavigne E, van Rijswijk D, Brauer M et al. 2017 Biomass Burning as a Source of Ambient Fine Particulate Air Pollution and Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Epidemiology* 28, 329–337. doi: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000636
- WHO 2017a Chikungunya France. <u>https://www.who.</u> <u>int/csr/don/25-august-2017-chikungunya-france/</u> <u>en/</u>
- WHO 2017b Chikungunya Italy. <u>https://www.who.int/</u> <u>csr/don/15-september-2017-chikungunya-italy/</u> <u>en/</u>

- WHO 2018 COP24 special report: health and climate change. World Health Organisation. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. Geneva
- WHO Regional Office for Europe, OECD 2015 Economic cost of the health impact of air pollution in Europe: Clean air, health and wealth. Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Wolf J, Adger WN, Lorenzoni I 2010 Heat waves and cold spells: an analysis of policy response and perceptions of vulnerable populations in the UK. *Environ. Plan. A Econ. Sp.* 42, 2721–2734. doi: 10.1068/a42503
- Woodward A, Hales S, Litidamu N, Phillips D, Martin J 2000 Protecting human health in a changing world: The role of social and economic development. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 78, 1148–1155. doi: 10.1590/S0042-9686200000900010
- World Bank 2017 Middle East & North Africa Data. https://data.worldbank.org/
- Yardley JE, Stapleton JM, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP 2013 Do heat events pose a greater health risk for individuals with type 2 diabetes? *Diabetes Technol. Ther.* 15, 520–529. doi: 10.1089/dia.2012.0324
- Zander KK, Botzen WJW, Oppermann E, Kjellstrom T, Garnett ST 2015 Heat stress causes substantial labour productivity loss in Australia. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 5, 647. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2623
- Zauli-Sajani S, Miglio R, Bonasoni P, Cristofanelli P, Marinoni A et al. 2011 Saharan dust and daily mortality in Emilia-Romagna (Italy). *Occup. Environ. Med.* 68, 446–451. doi: <u>10.1136/oem.2010.058156</u>

Information about authors

Coordinating Lead Authors

Shlomit Paz: University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

Lead Authors

Cristina Linares: National School of Public Health, Carlos III Institute of Health, Madrid, Spain Julio Díaz: National School of Public Health, Carlos III Institute of Health, Madrid, Spain

Maya Negev:

School of Public Health, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

Gerardo Sanchez-Martinez:

United Nations Environment Programme-Technical University of Denmark (UNEP-DTU Partnership), Copenhagen, Denmark

Contributing Authors

Roberto Debono:

Ministry for Health, WHO/UNECE National Focal Point, Malta